Submission Number: 46 Date Received: 18/05/2011





Submission to the House Committee on Education and Employment Inquiry into mental health and workforce participation

May 2011



Our Credo

We believe our first responsibility is to the doctors, nurses and patients, to mothers and fathers and all others who use our products and services. In meeting their needs everything we do must be of high quality. We must constantly strive to reduce our costs in order to maintain reasonable prices. Customers' orders must be serviced promptly and accurately. Our suppliers and distributors must have an opportunity to make a fair profit.

We are responsible to our employees, the men and women who work with us throughout the world. Everyone must be considered as an individual. We must respect their dignity and recognize their merit. They must have a sense of security in their jobs. Compensation must be fair and adequate, and working conditions clean, orderly and safe. We must be mindful of ways to help our employees fulfill their family responsibilities. Employees must feel free to make suggestions and complaints. There must be equal opportunity for employment, development and advancement for those qualified. We must provide competent management, and their actions must be just and ethical.

We are responsible to the communities in which we live and work and to the world community as well. We must be good citizens – support good works and charities and bear our fair share of taxes. We must encourage civic improvements and better health and education. We must maintain in good order the property we are privileged to use, protecting the environment and natural resources.

Our final responsibility is to our stockholders. Business must make a sound profit. We must experiment with new ideas. Research must be carried on, innovative programs developed and mistakes paid for. New equipment must be purchased, new facilities provided and new products launched. Reserves must be created to provide for adverse times. When we operate according to these principles, the stockholders should realize a fair return.



Table of Contents

OUR CREDO2	
1.	SUBMISSION INFORMATION
2.	ABOUT JANSSEN
3.	HELPING AUSTRALIANS WITH PERSISTENT MENTAL ILLNESS
4.	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY7
5.	PREVALENCE OF SCHIZOPHRENIA
6. RECOVERY AND RETURNING TO WORK IN SCHIZOPHRENIA9	
	TREATMENT HELPS INDIVIDUALS RETURN TO WORK AND EDUCATION
	THE HUMAN AND ECONOMIC COST OF RELAPSE10
	RELAPSE IN SCHIZOPHRENIA - A BARRIER TO WORKFORCE PARTICIPATION
	PRODUCTIVITY LOSS DUE TO RELAPSE RELATED SUICIDE
	PRODUCTIVITY LOSS DUE TO CRIMINALITY12
7.	THE POTENTIAL FOR LONG-ACTING THERAPIES TO REDUCE RELAPSE
6.	CONCLUSION
7.	REFERENCES



1. Submission Information

Organisation: Janssen-Cilag Pty Limited

Type of Organisation: Proprietary Limited Company

Address: 1 – 5 Khartoum Road, Macquarie Park NSW 2113

Email and phone contact:

Deborah Chan Manager, Corporate & Government Affairs Ph: +61 2 9815 3395 Fax: +61 2 8875 3200 Email: <u>dchan4@its.jnj.com</u>

Declaration of Interest:

Janssen is engaged in business located in Australia and is the sponsor of a number of medicines listed on the Pharmaceutical Benefits Schedule, including biological medicines.



2. About Janssen

"Caring for the world, one person at a time"

With more than 50 years experience in the research and development of medicines for mental health, Janssen is focussed on bringing hope and health to Australians living with persistent mental illness and their families.

Janssen is a leading research-based pharmaceutical company with a distinguished heritage in mental health. We are committed to improving the standard of care for those affected by persistent mental illness and neurological disorders, including schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's disease and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD).

Janssen also provides prescription medicines for a range of other conditions including neurology, women's health, haematology, gastroenterology, and pain management. Four Janssen medicines are included in the World Health Organisation's Essential Drug list.

The research conducted by Janssen has resulted in a number of critical medicines being developed and made available to the Australian public.



3. Helping Australians with Persistent Mental Illness

We are responsible to the communities in which we live and work and to the world community as well. We must be good citizens – support good works and charities and bear our fair share of taxes. We must encourage civic improvements and better health and education. *Our Credo*

As reflected in our Credo, we believe we have a responsibility not only to our customers, but also to the communities in which we live. This means ensuring that we do all we can to enable Australians living with persistent mental illness to live healthy and productive lives; including accessing education, training and employment opportunities.

Janssen is a world leader in the research and development of medicines in mental health, with a focus on schizophrenia. Since the 1950s, Janssen has invested in developing long-acting antipsychotic treatments that encourage adherence, reduce relapse and help people live productive lives in the community.

People living with schizophrenia need access to a combination of clinical care, including medication, psychological therapy and social support in order to achieve the best outcomes. At Janssen, we consider it our responsibility to look beyond the provision of medication and support projects that support Australians living with mental ill health and their loved ones.

Primarily, we do this by supporting educational and social inclusion projects lead by mental health consumer groups. We are proud to support organisations such as the Mental Health Council of Australia, SANE Australia and the Mental Illness Fellowship of Australia because they provide vital support and make a real difference in people's lives.

Nonetheless, it is well documented that antipsychotic medication is the cornerstone of the management of schizophrenia (Psychotropic Therapuetic Guidelines 2008). In order to continue to develop new and innovative products, companies such as Janssen seek strong, clear and effective regulatory and reimbursement systems.

We therefore welcome this opportunity to contribute to this inquiry into mental health and workforce participation. In this submission, we discuss schizophrenia and antipsychotic medications that are designed to encourage adherence, reduce relapse and help consumers live productive lives. We also comment on how recent changes in the reimbursement environment jeopardise the future development of such treatments.

Janssen | PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANIE of Johnson-Johnson Submission to the House Committee on Education and Employment – Inquiry into mental health and workforce participation

4. Executive Summary

This submission focuses on persistent mental illness, specifically schizophrenia, and selected ways to address barriers and enhance access to and participation in education, training and employment.

Specifically, we consider how relapse in schizophrenia affects an individual's ability to return to work and/or education, and the resultant broader economic costs of relapse. We suggest Australians living with persistent mental illness, such as schizophrenia, must have access to new and innovative medicines that encourage adherence and reduce the rate of relapse, in order to address barriers and enhance access to education, training and employment.

People living with severe mental illness can and do make good recoveries. However, it is widely accepted that consumers need access to a combination of psychological therapy, social support and clinical care, including medication, in order to achieve the best outcomes. Janssen is extremely concerned with Cabinet's recent decision to defer the PBS listing of a critical new medicine, Invega Sustenna[®] (paliperidone palmitate) which is proven to reduce relapse and help people live more productive lives.

Janssen recently commissioned a report by Deloitte Access Economics regarding the cost of relapse in schizophrenia. This submission utilises this report and is designed to better inform the members of the committee of the cost of relapse and how the prevention of relapse is a crucial element in helping Australians with persistent mental ill health return to work and education.



5. Prevalence of Schizophrenia

A Deloitte Access Economics report commissioned by Janssen in 2011 estimates there were 98,437 Australians living with schizophrenia in 2010, comprising 54,843 males and 43,594 females.

Schizophrenia is a serious, persistent mental illness that affects an individual's thought processes and emotional responsiveness and robs people of their productive lives. Over 40% of schizophrenia individuals attempt suicide, 70% do not work and almost all experience social isolation (Access Economics 2002).

A person with schizophrenia has an average lifetime that is 9-12 years shorter than the general population. This is due to a number of factors including, preventable behavioural risk factors, an increased prevalence of untreated co-morbidities and suicide (Deloitte Access Economics 2011).

A disproportionate number of people living with schizophrenia commit suicide. Saha et al (2007) found that people with schizophrenia were 13 times more likely commit suicide, while Auquier et al (2006) and Pompili et al (2007) identified estimates of around 10 and eight times respectively.

These troubling statistics demonstrate that schizophrenia comes with high costs, both human and economic. Janssen therefore welcomes this Inquiry and encourages the Committee to explore every opportunity to help consumers return to work and education.



6. Recovery and Returning to Work in Schizophrenia

Treatment helps individuals return to work and education

To return to work and education, Australians living with schizophrenia need access to a combination of psychological therapy, social support and clinical care, including medication.

To address barriers and enhance access to education and training it is fundamental that the Federal Government invest in strong clinical and community support programs. This must include building a strong and effective reimbursement system to ensure consumer access to new and innovative antipsychotic medicines that encourage adherence and reduce the rate of relapse.

Adherence to antipsychotic therapy is perhaps the biggest challenge in the treatment of schizophrenia with non-adherence being the largest single cause of relapse (Psychotropic Therapeutic Guidelines, 2008). Janssen is therefore extremely concerned with Cabinet's recent decision to defer the PBS listing of a critical new medicine, Invega Sustenna[®] (paliperidone palmitate) which is proven to reduce relapse and help people live more productive lives.

Nonetheless, Janssen understands medication is only part of the solution. We believe consumers need access to a range of treatments in order to recover and return to work and education. In our experience, these include:

- Services provided by non-profit mental health consumer organisations, such as consumer and carer education, programs to help individuals return to work and education, advocacy and so on;
- Residential care that provides a temporary home for people experiencing acute mental ill health where they can rehabilitate and learn skills necessary for living in the community;
- Community mental health care providing a range of support services, such as: case management; multidisciplinary care; accommodation and community support; community access services; respite services; and employment support services.
- Supported Accommodation Assistance Program (SAAP), which assists those homeless or at risk of being homeless with transitional supported accommodation and other support services;



The Human and Economic Cost of Relapse

Janssen believes relapse prevention is crucial in caring for people with persistent mental illness and in helping individuals recover and return to work and education.

Deloitte Access Economics defined relapse in schizophrenia as an admitted episode of hospital care that resulted in at least one overnight stay. This represents a significant worsening of symptoms, decrease in social function and change in the pattern of care. **The number of relapses in people living with schizophrenia in Australia was estimated to be 25,571 over a 12 month period in 2009-10** (Deloitte Access Economics 2011).

As people living with schizophrenia who do not relapse use health care and other economic resources, the cost of a relapse was estimated by the additional resources used (or resources lost in terms of productivity) due to relapse. The total cost of relapse in people with schizophrenia was estimated to be \$698.6 million over a 12 month period in 2009-10. This includes \$210 million in indirect costs such as lost productivity due to unemployment and premature mortality (Deloitte Access Economics 2011).

Relapse in schizophrenia - a barrier to workforce participation

Relapse in schizophrenia affects an individual's ability to maintain employment. In its report on the Cost of Relapse in Schizophrenia, Deloitte Access Economics highlights several studies demonstrating the productivity losses associated with relapse.

Drawing on studies such as Jablensky et all 1999, Marwaha and Johnson 2004, and Hong et al 2009; Deloittes Access Economics estimated the implied employment rate for people experiencing a relapse is 24.8%, in comparison to 31.3% among those who do not. Applying this to the estimated number of relapses in 2010 implies that 6,340 people who relapsed were working at the time. This is approximately 21.8% of the 29,125 employed people with schizophrenia.



Comparing the number of people with relapse employed with the number that would have employment in the absence of the relapse (31.3% or 8,001) there are 1,661 people unemployed at any one time as a due to a relapse. This equates to an average length of unemployment of approximately three months due to relapse (including time spent in hospital).

IMS Health (2006) suggested that the average weekly earnings of a person with schizophrenia are significantly less than the general population. Deloitte Access Economics estimated 6,340 people stopped employment due to a relapse in 2009-10. Throughout this period, there were approximately 1,661 people not employed at any one time due to relapse. Considering the average annual earnings of an individual living with schizophrenia is \$14,778 (Deloitte Access Economics 2011), the value of lost productivity due to a relapse was estimated to be \$24.5 million annually.

Productivity loss due to relapse related suicide

In addition to productivity loss associated with unemployment, there is also productivity foregone from premature mortality due to relapse. Tragically, Shrivastava (2010) found that **the rate of suicide was almost four times greater for those not adhering to medication compared to those who did**. It is therefore assumed that **the effect of non-adherence is indicative of the effect of a relapse** and **80% of suicides are therefore attributed to schizophrenia relapse**.

In 2009-10, there were an estimated 159 suicides by people with schizophrenia of which 127 were assumed attributable to schizophrenia relapse (Deloitte Access Economics 2011). Assuming the probability of employment for those who decide to take their own lives due to relapse is the same as that for all people living with schizophrenia, 24.8% (approximately 32 people) are expected to have been employed had they not died due to a relapse related suicide.

Deloitte Access Economics estimates the 'mortality burden' of suicides as the value of income that individuals would have earned up to retirement (age 65 years) had they not died. Considering the the average annual income in 2010 of a person with schizophrenia is \$14,777, the total income lost due to relapse related suicide in Australia in 2009-10 is estimated to be \$5.2 million.



Productivity loss due to criminality

People living with schizophrenia are not especially prone to violence — more typically they are withdrawn and prefer to be left alone. As with the community generally, the rate of violence is increased if there is substance abuse or a history of criminal violence (before onset of the disease).

However, there is an elevated risk of criminality. Fazel and Danesh (2002) estimated average psychosis prevalence rates in prisons for females and males were 3.7% and 4.0% respectively. This means the psychosis rates of persons in prison are 3-4 times the rate of the general population.

Risk of a criminal offence increases if a person is paranoid with psychotic symptoms and medication is discontinued. In a US study, Ascher-Svanum et al (2010) found **people who had relapsed in the previous six months were more than twice as likely to have been arrested than those who had not** (4.0% versus 9.7%).

7. The Potential for Long-Acting Therapies to Reduce Relapse

In many cases poor adherence with medication to treat schizophrenia is associated with a substantial increase in the risk of a relapse. Eighty percent of people are expected to experience a relapse if they have poor adherence (Psychotropic Therapeutic Guidelines 2008).

It is generally accepted that adherence for oral antipsychotics (both typical and atypical) is low. For example, Dolder et al (2001) found that adherence for oral atypical and typical antipsychotics were similarly poor at 12 months, with 54.9% and 50.1% respectively. At two years adherence may be as low as 25% (Chue 2010).

It is well documented that long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines, such as Invega Sustenna, have the potential to reduce the rate of relapse and thereby help individuals live more productive lives. There are several reasons why long-acting injectable (LAI) antipsychotics promote adherence and help reduce relapse, including the fact that they are administered less frequently and non-adherence is easier to detect as the medication is administered by medical professionals.

In Australia, approximately 17% of people with schizophrenia are prescribed LAIs (Monshat et al 2010). Deloitte Access Economics estimated that if LAI antipsychotic utilisation was increased to 30% in Australia (as in the UK and US), there would be an additional 12,791 people prescribed a LAI. Assuming all people switched were non-adherent to oral antipsychotics, the avoided cost of relapse through improved adherence to medication would be approximately \$52.5 million per year (Deloitte Access Economics 2011).

This figure not only represents the financial costs that could be avoided, but the potential increase in productivity should individuals be given an opportunity to stay well and avoid relapse through an increased use of long-acting therapy.



6. Conclusion

Relapse in schizophrenia is a significant barrier to participation in education, training and employment. Nevertheless, people living with schizophrenia can do and make good recoveries when they have access to a broad range of treatments, including psychological therapy, social support and clinical care, including medication.

We encourage the Government to continue to invest in vital programs implemented by mental health consumer organisations and to build stronger, more connected public mental health services.

However, we believe that in order to enhance access to and increase participation in education, training and employment, it is essential for Australians living with persistent mental illness to have access to medicines that encourage adherence and reduce the rate of relapse.

Janssen is extremely concerned with Cabinet's recent decision to defer the PBS listing of a critical new medicine, Invega Sustenna[®] (paliperidone palmitate) which is proven to reduce relapse and help people live more productive lives. We encourage the Government to review this decision in the interest of the thousands of Australians living with schizophrenia and their families.

Janssen Pharmaceutical companies

7. References

ABS -2005, *Employee earnings and hours*, ABS Cat No 6306.0, http://www.ausstats.abs.gov.au/Ausstats/subscriber.nsf/0/8E4BD3FCFF3FB769CA256FCC0073A69 D/\$File/63060_may%202004.pdf, accessed 12 January 2011.

ABS -2010b, Australian labour market statistics, ABS Cat No 6105.0, http://www.ausstats.abs.gov.au/Ausstats/subscriber.nsf/0/B9BE5F9EA40AA538CA2577B5000CB666 /\$File/61050_oct%202010.pdf, accessed 12 January 2011.

ABS - 2010c, *Mental health data cubes*, http://www.aihw.gov.au/mentalhealth/datacubes/index.cfm, accessed 23 December 2010.

Access Economics 2010, Business outlook December 2010

Agid, O, Foussias, G, Remington, G 2010, 'Long-acting injectable antipsychotics in the treatment of schizophrenia: their role in relapse prevention', *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy*, 11(14): 2301 – 2317.

Almond, S, Knapp, M, Francois, C, et al 2004, 'Relapse in schizophrenia: costs, clinical outcomes and quality of life', The *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 184: 346 – 351.

Ascher-Svanum, H, Zhu, B, Faries, DE, et al 2010, 'The cost of relapse and the predictors of relapse in the treatment of schizophrenia', *BioMedCentral Psychiatry*, 10(2).

Auquier, P, Lancon, C, Roulillon, F, et al 2006, 'Mortality in schizophrenia', *Pharmacoepidemiology* and drug safety, 15:873-879.

Chue, P 2010, 'Long-acting risperidone injection: efficacy, safety, and cost-effectiveness of the first long-acting atypical antipsychotic', *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 3(1): 13-39.

Deloitte, Access Economics, 2011, 'The cost of relapse in Schizophrenia', Janssen Australia.

Dolder, CR, Lacro, JP, Dunn, LB, et al 2002, 'Antipsychotic medication adherence: is there a difference between typical and atypical agents?', *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 159: 103-108



FaHCSIA-2009,2004DisabilityServicesCensusreport,http://www.fahcsia.gov.au/sa/disability/pubs/policy/disability_services_census_2004/Pages/p4.aspx#4g, accessed 12 January 2011.

Fazel, S, Danesh, J 2002 'Serious mental disorder in 23,000 prisoners: a systematic review of 62 surveys', *The Lancet*, 359: 545-50.

Hong, J, Windmeijer, F, Novick, D, et al 2009, 'The cost of relapse in patients with schizophrenia in the European SOHO (Schizophrenia Outpatient Health Outcomes) study', *Progress in neuropsychopharmacology & biological psychiatry*, 33: 835-841.

IMS Health 2006, 'Cost and quality of life implications of schizophrenia: values from the general public and carers'.

Jablensky, A, McGrath, J, Herrman, H, et al 1999, People living with psychotic illness: An Australianstudy1997-98,CommonwealthofAustralia,http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/47F22BCC4CC18FA5CA25723E000F848C/\$File/psychov.pdf, accessed 25 November 2010.

Kazadi, NJB, Moosa, MYH, Jeenah, FY 2008, 'Factors associated with relapse in schizophrenia', *South African Journal of Psychiatry*, 14(2): 52-62.

Marawaha, S, Johnson, S 2004, 'Schizophrenia and employment: a review', *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 39:337-349.

Monshat, K, Carty, B, Olver, J, et al 2010, 'Trends in antipsychotic prescribing practices in an urban community mental health clinic', *Australasian Psychiatry* 18(3): 238-241.

NIMH (National Institute of Mental Health) 2010, *What causes schizophrenia?* http://www.medicinenet.com/schizophrenia/page8.htm, accessed 22 November 2010.

OBPR (Office of Best Practice Regulation) 2010, *Best Practice Regulation Handbook*, Australian Government Department of Finance, Canberra.

Passerieux, C, Croli, F, Giraud-Baro, E 2009, 'Persons suffering from schizophrenia and relapses', *L'Encephale*, 35(6): 586-594.



Pompili, M, Amador, X, Girardi,P, et al 2007, 'Suicide risk in schizophrenia: learning from the past to change the future', *Annals of general psychiatry*, 6:10.

Psychotropic Therapeutic Guidelines, 2008

Saha, S, Chant, D, McGrath, J 2007, 'A systematic review of mortality in schizophrenia', *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 64(10):1123-1131.

Shrivastava, A 2010, *Suicide, schizophrenia and antipsychotics: perspectives,* Presented at the Symposium organised y the 'Indo Canadian Psychiatric Association' on 12th may 2010 in Toronto, http://earlypsychosis.net/wp-content/uploads/2010/06/management-of-suicidein-schizophrenia-and-antipsychotic-drugs.pdf, accessed 12 January 2011.